# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-4-2014

# Crawford v. State Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 41669

#### **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from the summary dismissal of a post-conviction petition.

### **B.** Procedural History and Statement of Facts

## 1. <u>Introduction</u>

Shane Crawford was charged in Ada County Case No. CR-FE-2010-7100 with two counts of Lewd Conduct with a Minor Child Under Sixteen ("Counts I and II") and two counts of Sexual Abuse of a Child Under Sixteen. (CR 5.) Mr. Crawford entered not guilty pleas to the four charges and was represented at trial by attorney Matt Roker. (*Id.*) He was found guilty by a jury of the two lewd conduct counts and not guilty of the two sexual abuse counts. He was sentenced to concurrent sentences of twenty-five-years with six years fixed on each count. (CR. 4-5.)

## 2. <u>Testimony at the trial</u>

The state's first witness was As.C. She was the alleged victim in Count I. As.C. testified that she is Mr. Crawford's daughter and that in 2009 she was living in a home with him and the rest of her family. (T pg. 196, ln. 1 - pg. 198, ln. 5.)<sup>1</sup> A few months before July of 2009, As.C. and Mr. Crawford were watching a movie while laying on the couch in the living room. (T pg. 198, ln. 6 - pg. 199, ln. 19.) As.C. testified that while lying on the couch, Mr. Crawford "started reaching up my shirt and groping my breasts and then he started going down into my panties and began touching my vagina." (T pg. 199, ln. 21 - 25.) As.C. elaborated that Mr. Crawford's hand

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Crawford attached a copy of the trial transcript to his petition and asked that the court take judicial notice of it. (CR 11, 257.) The court granted the motion. (Transcript Post Conviction Proceedings (8/7/2013) pg. 11, ln. 12-16.)

was over her bra feeling her breasts and that "he was feeling down into my crotch area." (T pg. 200, ln. 12 - pg. 201, ln. 7.) As.C. thought the entire event lasted about 30 minutes and when "he was going onto my vagina" she left to go play video games upstairs. (T pg. 201, ln. 18-25.)

The next witness was Tracy Crawford, Mr. Crawford's ex-wife. (T pg. 218, ln. 7 – pg .219, ln. 3.) Ms. Crawford testified about the family relationships and the divorce, and was allowed to testify about both An.C. and As.C. making disclosures to her regarding being sexually touched by Mr. Crawford. (T pg. 218, ln. 12 – pg. 234, ln. 6.)

An.C. was the next witness. An.C. was the victim in Count II. An.C. testified that she is also Mr. Crawford's daughter. (T pg. 238, ln. 8-16.) She claimed that when she was in 8th grade, Mr. Crawford offered her an alcoholic drink and asked her if she knew what a clit was. (T pg. 242, ln. 17-18.) An.C. responded that she "did not know what that was." *Id.* An.C. then testified that "He said, 'Well let me show you,' and then was going to show me and I, like, backed away when he was going to show me." (T pg. 243, ln. 10-12.) When the prosecutor asked "So, did his hand touch you?", An.C. responded "Yeah." (T pg. 243, ln. 10-16.) But when asked "Where did he touch you?", An.C. testified, "Outside of my vaginal area." (T pg. 243, ln. 15-16.)

The state argued to the jury and later confirmed to the Court that the "clit incident" was the incident which constituted Count II. (T pg. 498, ln. 5-14; pg. 545, ln. 8 - pg. 546, ln. 6.)

On another occasion, when An.C. was about 13 years old, she was on the couch with Mr. Crawford and he was rubbing her leg up toward her privates, outside of her bikini line. (T pg. 244, ln. 20 – pg. 245, ln. 21.) Around Christmas of 2008, Mr. Crawford allegedly pulled out his penis and tried to show it to An.C., but she looked away. (T pg. 248, ln. 24 – pg. 251, ln. 11.) At a party, Mr. Crawford allegedly grabbed An.C.'s breast in front of others in a joking way. (T pg. 251, ln. 12 – pg. 253, ln. 11.) Another time, while on the phone with her grandfather, Mr. Crawford began rubbing An.C.'s stomach and moving his hand toward her shirt; she kept batting it away before he could touch any private areas. (T pg. 254, ln. 1 – pg. 257, ln. 2.)

The state then presented the testimony of the detective assigned the case and a counselor specializing in counseling sexually abused children. (T pg. 274, ln. 22 – pg. 335, ln. 7.) The state's last witness was Sharon Crawford, Mr. Crawford's mother, who noted that the girls had disclosed that Mr. Crawford had been touching them in a way that made them uncomfortable, but saw nothing sexual about the touching they reported. (T pg. 346, ln. 1-16; pg. 351, ln. 22 – pg. 352, ln. 4.)

Mr. Crawford called his son, Nolan Crawford. (T pg. 405, ln. 5-12.) Nolan testified that his father had a good relationship with his family, that he knew that An.C. had walked in on her father in states of undress in the bathroom and had walked in on her parents having sex. (T pg. 407, ln. 8 – pg. 413, ln.19; pg. 415, ln. 18 – pg. 416, ln. 4.) George Crawford, his other son, testified similarly. (T pg. 429, ln. 1 – pg. 435, ln. 18.) The defense then rested. (T pg. 462, ln. 6-7.)

The state then recalled An.C. who testified that she had walked in on her parents having sex in their bathroom. (T pg. 465, ln. 3 – pg. 467, ln. 5.) The state then rested. (T pg. 469, ln. 4.) No I.C.R. 29 motion for judgment of acquittal was made by defense counsel.

The jury was instructed and excused to deliberate. (T pg. 482, ln. 7 – pg. 492, ln. 7, pg. 534, ln. 12.) During deliberations, the jury sent a number of questions to the judge. (T pg. 542, ln. 6 – pg. 546, ln. 2.) Question number three had two parts, as follows:

[1.] In order to have committed manual – genital contact does it require touching the vaginal area?

[2.] Does touching of breast-area constitute manual-genital contact?

In response to part two, defense counsel stated that the answer was "no." (T pg. 544, ln. 21.)

The district court stated that it was "not going to define for them manual-genital." (T pg. 544, ln.

21-24.) The state asked that the jury just be informed that they needed to reread the instructions.

(T p. 545, ln. 6-7.) The district court noted:

Well, if the jury -I do not feel comfortable defining, and, in fact, there is case law that says not only should you default to the standard instructions, but that while – while it may see – it's tempting to want to define every single word, that it's inappropriate for the court to do so and that the jurors have to apply their understanding – their common ordinary understanding to it. And, therefore, I'm just going to tell them to reread the instructions.

(T p. 545, ln. 8-18.) The jury was then specifically informed, "Please re-read all the instructions." (CR 68.)

The jury returned a guilty verdict on Counts I and II after being so instructed. (CR 8.)

Mr. Crawford appealed. (CR 5.) Elizabeth Allred of the State Appellate Public Defender's Office represented Mr. Crawford on appeal. (*Id.*) On June 27, 2012, the Court of Appeals vacated the conviction on Count I, but affirmed on Count II and also affirmed the sentence with respect to Count II. *State v. Crawford*, No. 38587, 2012 Unpublished Opinion No. 538. The Court of Appeals vacated Count I because the trial court failed to adequately answer the second part of jury inquiry #3: "Does touching of the breast area constitute manual-genital contact?" The Court of Appeals found that the Court's failure to clarify that the breast was not a genital for purposes of the lewd conduct statute was error, but also that only Count I involved an incident where there were allegations of breast touching. Thus, the error was harmless as to Count II. (A true and correct copy of the Court's opinion is attached hereto as Exhibit A.)

The Remittitur in the appeal was filed in the district court on August 23, 2012. (CR 6.) On September 14, 2012, the state moved to dismiss Count I. On October 3, 2012, the district court granted the motion to dismiss, leaving only the judgment and sentence as to Count II remaining. (CR 6.)

#### 3. <u>Proceedings upon post-conviction petition</u>

On July 2, 2013, Mr. Crawford filed a petition for post-conviction relief as to Count II alleging that his trial counsel and appellate counsel were ineffective. (CR 4.) He alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move for a judgment of acquittal under I.C.R. 29(a) due to insufficiency of the evidence as to Count II. He alleged that there was insufficient evidence to support the conviction on Count II as a matter of law because An.C. did not testify that Mr. Crawford touched her genitalia and the state did not present any other evidence that Mr. Crawford touched An.C.'s genitalia at that time. (CR 6-10.)

He also alleged that trial counsel was ineffective during jury deliberations. Mr. Crawford alleged that trial counsel's performance was deficient because a reasonably competent attorney would have requested that the Court answer "yes" in response to the first part of the jury's question: "In order to have committed manual-genital contact, does it require touching the vaginal area?" or have asked the court to define the word "genital." He also alleged that trial counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Mr. Crawford because, had the court instructed the jury on the definition of "genital," or instructed the jury that it had to find that Mr. Crawford manually touched the vaginal area of As.C. (in Count I) and/or An.C. (in Count II), the jury would have acquitted Mr. Crawford of Count II because there was no evidence of manual-genital

touching to support a conviction on that count. (CR 9-10.)

Mr. Crawford also alleged that he was prejudiced because appellate counsel could not raise the issue of whether the trial court should have instructed the jury as to the definition of "genital" or that it should have instructed the jury that it had to find that Mr. Crawford manually touched the vaginal area of A.C. (in Count I) and/or An.C. (in Count II) because trial counsel failed to preserve that issue for appeal. Had the issue been preserved for appeal, the Court of Appeals would have reversed the conviction on Count II due to the trial court's jury instruction error. (CR 10.)

Finally, Mr. Crawford alleged that appellate counsel's performance was deficient because a reasonably competent appellate attorney would have raised a sufficiency of the evidence claim as to Count II given the insufficiency of proof, especially as there were not stronger issues to raise on appeal as to Count II. He also alleged appellate counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Mr. Crawford because had she raised an insufficiency of the evidence challenge as to Count II on appeal, the Court of Appeals would have vacated the conviction and ordered that a judgment of acquittal enter as to that count. (CR 11.)

In support of the petition, Mr. Crawford attached as Exhibits the trial transcripts, the Appellant's and Respondent's Briefs in the direct appeal and the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion. (CR 11.) The Court later took judicial notice of the trial transcripts. (TPCP (8/7/2013) pg. 12, ln. 12-16.)

The state filed an Answer and a Motion for Summary Disposition. (CR 266, 278.) Mr. Crawford filed a Cross-Motion for Summary Disposition. (CR 281.) After briefing and a hearing, the court denied Mr. Crawford's motion, granted the state's motion and dismissed the case (CR 323, 337.)

A timely notice of appeal was filed. (CR 339.) On March 24, 2014, a Corrected Final Judgment was filed by the district court.

## **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

A. Did the trial court err in finding trial and appellate counsels' performances were not deficient because there was sufficient evidence in the trial record to support the conviction on Count II? If so, was the error prejudicial?

B. Did the trial court misapply the Court of Appeals' opinion in *Mintun v. State*, 144 Idaho 656, 168 P.3d 40 (Ct. App. 2007), when dismissing the ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claim, as the sufficiency of the evidence claim was the strongest issue which could have been raised with regard to Count II?

C. Did the trial court err in finding that trial counsel's failure to request an affirmative answer to the jury's inquiry or to request the court to define the word "genitalia" was not deficient performance? If so, was the error prejudicial?

## **IV. ARGUMENT**

# A. The Trial Court Erred in Finding Trial and Appellate Counsels' Performances Were Not Deficient. There Was Insufficient Evidence in the Trial Record to Support the Conviction on Count II. The Error Prejudiced Petitioner.

A defendant in a criminal case is guaranteed the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. The Sixth Amendment has been incorporated through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to apply to the states. *See Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U.S. 45, 73 (1932). The Equal Protection and Due Process Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment guarantee the right to counsel on appeal. *Douglas v.* 

*California*, 372 U.S. 353 (1963). This right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of that counsel. *Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. 387, 396 (1985). Idaho law also guarantees a criminal defendant's right to counsel. Idaho Const. Art. 1, § 13; I.C. § 19-852.

In general, a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, whether based upon the state or federal constitution, is analyzed under the familiar *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), standard. In order to prevail under *Strickland*, a petitioner must prove: 1) that counsel's performance was deficient in that it fell below standards of reasonable professional performance; and 2) that this deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. at 689. The prejudice prong of the test is shown if there is a reasonable probability that a different result would have been obtained in the case if the attorney had acted properly. *Id.* An ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claim is judged under the standards set forth in *Strickland. See e.g., Mintun v. State*, 144 Idaho at 658, 168 P.3d at 42.

The Due Process Clauses of the United States and State Constitutions preclude conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which a defendant is charged. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970).

In short, *Winship* presupposes as an essential of the due process guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment that no person shall be made to suffer the onus of a criminal conviction except upon sufficient proof-defined as evidence necessary to convince a trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt of the existence of every element of the offense.

*Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 316 (1979). In the case where a properly instructed jury has convicted, even though no rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, that conviction cannot constitutionally stand. *Jackson*, 443 U.S., pg. 318.

Upon a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, the Court will determine, based upon

its independent consideration of the evidence, whether there was substantial and competent evidence to support the verdict. *State v. Hollon*, 136 Idaho 499, 501, 36 P.3d 1287, 1289 (Ct. App. 2001). Put in constitutional terms: "[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson*, 443 U.S., pg. 319.

1. <u>Trial counsel</u>

Trial counsel was ineffective because he failed to move for a judgment of acquittal as to

Count II.

Here is the testimony from An.C regarding Count II:

Q. And so do you remember a time when you were in the kitchen with your dad?

A. Yes.

. . . .

Q. Okay. So what were you doing in the kitchen?

A. He was offering me an alcoholic drink and I told him I didn't want any alcohol. And I don't know how the conversation got brought up, but he asked me what a clit was and I told him I didn't know what that was.

. . . .

Q. And then what did he do?

A. He said, Well, let me show you," and then went to show me, and I, like, backed away when he was going to show me.

Q. Okay. So did his hands touch you?

A. Yeah.

Q. Where did they touch you?

A. Outside of my vaginal area.

(T pg. 242, ln. 3 - pg. 243, ln. 16.) After her testimony about being touched outside of her vaginal area, An.C testified as follows:

Q. Okay. So was he going down, like down from your shorts or was he going up?

A. Up.

(T pg. 243, ln. 13-19.)

An.C. testified that Mr. Crawford was reaching up her shorts and he touched outside her

vaginal area. It makes sense that he was not able to reach her vaginal area in light of An.C's

testimony that she "backed away when he was going to show me." (T pg. 243, ln. 11-12.)

However, being touched "outside of my vaginal area" is not sufficient to prove the allegation in

Count II, which alleged manual-genital touching. (CR 67).

An.C's trial testimony that she was touched outside of her vaginal area is corroborated by her prior statements to Detective Ellis. The detective testified:

Q. Yeah, on the day that the alcohol use was involved. I believe there was an allegation by [An.C] that the father had brought up the issue of do you know what a clit is.

A. Correct.

Q. Do you remember that?

A. Right. That was the day in the kitchen where he --

Q. Yes.

A. Yes

Q. And did [AC] [verbatim] tell you what her response was when she indicated that her father had made a quick move toward her to show her what a clit was?

A. Yes, she indicated that he had reached his hand up the pant leg of her shorts.

Q. Okay.

A. He was *trying* to get her - get his hand inside of her underwear and she stepped away from him and told him no.

(T pg. 284, ln. 24 - pg. 285, ln. 18.) (Emphasis added.) An.C did not tell Detective Ellis that she was touched on her vaginal area. An.C told the detective that Mr. Crawford touched under her pant leg in an attempt to get his hand inside her underwear, but she avoided that contact by stepping away. An.C's prior statement confirms her trial testimony that she was touched outside of her vaginal area.

There was insufficient evidence to support Count II because the state did not produce any evidence that Mr. Crawford touched the genitals of An.C. during the "clit incident." The evidence was only that he touched outside of her vaginal area. Consequently, it was ineffective assistance of trial counsel to fail to move the court for a judgment of acquittal under I.C.R. 29.

The trial court rejected Mr. Crawford's argument writing as follows:

Crawford attempts to reinterpret what the victim meant. However, applying ordinary meanings, the vagina is an internal organ. It is defined and understood to be "the passage from the vulva to the womb in woman." *See* OXFORD AMERICAN PAPERBACK DICTIONARY 1027 (1980). Thus, the external genitalia are "outside" the vaginal area. Outside is defined as "the outer side of a surface." *Id.*, at 634. A jury could reasonably understand her testimony to be referring to the external genitalia (or outside the vaginal area) which is what is required under the statute for a conviction. Therefore, this testimony, especially combined with the jury's determination of her credibility, is sufficient to sustain the conviction.

(CR 330-331). The court's analysis is in error and should be rejected for several reasons.

First, the court's analysis is illogical. Even if one assumes that An.C meant to say that she was not touched on the vagina but elsewhere, as the court finds, that is still not sufficient

evidence. Being touched somewhere other than the vagina does not mean the touching occurred on genitalia, as required for conviction.

Second, the testimony was that An.C. was touched outside her "vaginal area" not outside of her "vagina" and the term "vaginal area" means the area containing all of the external female genitalia. Genitalia is defined as "the organs of the reproductive system; especially: the external genital organs." <u>http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/genitalia.</u> "The female internal genitalia are the ovaries, Fallopian tubes, uterus, cervix, and vagina. The female external genitalia are the labia minora and majora (the vulva) and the clitoris."

#### http://www.medterms.com/script/main/art.asp?articlekey=11372.

In interpreting a statute, the words used "should be given their plain, usual and ordinary meaning." *State v. Schulz*, 151 Idaho 863, 866, 264 P.3d 970, 973 (2011), quoting, Farber v. *Idaho State Ins. Fund*, 147 Idaho 307, 310, 208 P.3d 289, 292 (2009); *see also McLean v. Maverik County Stores, Inc.* 142 Idaho 810, 813, 135 P.3d 756, 759 (2006). The term "vaginal area" is regularly used as a synonym of female external genitalia in Idaho case law. *See, e.g., State v. Cardell*, 132 Idaho 217, 220, 970 P.2d 10, 13 (1998) ("The issue whether Cardell deliberately touched R.S.'s vaginal area was a material and disputed issue concerning the crime charged. Although Cardell did not deny that he gave R.S. a massage, which included nipple manipulation and massaging the upper thighs of R.S., he testified he never massaged R.S.'s vaginal area. Instead, Cardell testified that he never rubbed the victim's genitals and that as he massaged the inner thigh his hand would have been touching the outside of the vaginal area but at no time did he directly touch R.S.'s vagina."); *State v. Lewis*, 126 Idaho 77, 79, 878 P.2d 776, 778 (1994) (Lewd Conduct with a Minor Under Sixteen case where the state's evidence was that "both

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