Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-18-2014

Crawford v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41669

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

ARGUMENT

Crawford Has Failed To Establish Error In The District Court's Summary Dismissal Of His Post-Conviction Claims

A. Introduction

Crawford contends the district court erred in summarily dismissing his claims that: (1) his trial and appellate counsel were ineffective for failing to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence supporting Count II, (2) his appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to present the strongest issue on appeal — the "sufficiency of the evidence" issue, and (3) his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request an affirmative answer to the jury's inquiry of whether manual-to-genital contact requires touching the "vaginal area," and for failing to ask the court to define the term "genital." (Appellant's Brief, pp.7-19.)

A review of the record shows Crawford has failed to demonstrate any error in the district court's conclusion that he failed to meet his burden of establishing a genuine issue of material fact relative to any of his post-conviction claims.

B. Standard Of Review

In reviewing the summary dismissal of a post-conviction application, the appellate court reviews the record to determine if a genuine issue of material fact exists which, if resolved in petitioner's favor, would require relief to be granted. Nellsch v. State, 122 Idaho 426, 434, 835 P.2d 661, 669 (Ct. App. 1992). The Court freely reviews the district court's application of the law. Id. at 434, 835 P.2d at 669. However, the Court is not required to accept either the applicant's mere conclusory allegations,

unsupported by admissible evidence, or the applicant's conclusions of law. <u>Ferrier v.</u> State, 135 Idaho 797, 799, 25 P.3d 110, 112 (2001).

C. Applicable Legal Standards

Idaho Code § 19-4906(c) authorizes a district court to summarily dismiss a postconviction petition upon motion by a party if it appears there is "no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." In order to survive summary dismissal, a post-conviction petitioner must present evidence in support of his petition sufficient to make "a prima facie case as to each essential element of the claims upon which the applicant bears the burden of proof." Berg v. State, 131 Idaho 517, 518, 960 P.2d 738, 739 (1998). Furthermore, the factual showing in a post-conviction relief application must be in the form of evidence that would be admissible at an evidentiary hearing. Drapeau v. State, 103 Idaho 612, 617, 651 P.2d 546, 551 (1982); Cowger v. State, 132 Idaho 681, 684, 978 P.2d 241, 244 (Ct. App. 1999). While a court must accept a petitioner's unrebutted allegations as true, the court is not required to accept either the applicant's mere conclusory allegations, unsupported by admissible evidence, or the applicant's conclusions of law. Ferrier v. State, 135 Idaho 797, 799, 25 P.3d 110, 112 (2001); Roman v. State, 125 Idaho 644, 647, 873 P.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 1994). In other words, bare or conclusory allegations, unsubstantiated by any fact, are inadequate to entitle a petitioner to an evidentiary hearing. Roman, 125 Idaho at 647, 873 P.2d at 901; Baruth v. Gardner, 110 Idaho 156, 159, 715 P.2d 369, 372 (Ct. App. 1986); Stone v. State, 108 Idaho 822, 826, 702 P.2d 860, 864 (Ct. App. 1985).

In the context of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, the Idaho Supreme Court has articulated the applicable standards as follows:

For an application for post-conviction relief based on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel to survive a summary dismissal, the petitioner must establish that: (1) a material issue of fact exists as to whether counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) a material issue of fact exists as to whether the deficiency prejudiced the applicant's case. . .

To establish deficient assistance, the burden is on the petitioner to show that his attorney's conduct fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. This objective standard embraces a strong presumption that trial counsel was competent and diligent. Thus, the claimant has the burden of showing that his attorney's performance fell below the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.

To establish prejudice, the claimant must show a reasonable probability that but for his attorney's deficient performance the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. Trial counsel's strategic or tactical decisions will not be second-guessed on appeal unless those decisions are based on inadequate preparation, ignorance of relevant law, or other shortcomings capable of objective evaluation.

<u>Baldwin v. State</u>, 145 Idaho 148, 153-154, 177 P.3d 362, 367-368 (2008) (internal citations omitted).

D. <u>Crawford Has Failed To Show Error In The District Court's Summary Dismissal</u> Of His Post-Conviction Claims

Crawford's argument that the district court erred in granting the state's motion for summary dismissal is completely rebutted by the district court's "Order Granting Summary Dismissal To The State," attached as Appendix A, which is incorporated into this Respondent's Brief and relied upon as if fully set forth herein. In addition to the district court's reasoning, the state makes the following argument with regard to Crawford's claim that his trial counsel and direct appeal counsel provided ineffective

assistance by failing to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support his conviction on Count II, lewd conduct against An.C.

Count II alleged that Crawford committed lewd conduct upon An.C. by having manual-to-genital contact with her in the kitchen after asking her questions about her "clit." (R., pp.226, 229 (Tr., p.498, Ls.6-19; p.512, Ls.5-9).) Crawford's "sufficiency" arguments are based on An.C.'s response to the prosecutor's question of where Crawford's hands touched her during that incident. An.C. answered: "Outside of my vaginal area." (Appellant's Brief, pp.7-14; R., p.162 (Tr., p.242, Ls.3-11; p.243, Ls.13-16).) Crawford contends An.C.'s testimony that the contact was "outside" the "vaginal area" means he did not have contact with her genitalia. (Appellant's Brief, pp.7-14.) Based on that premise, Crawford argues the evidence was insufficient to sustain a conviction for lewd conduct under Count II, and the district court erred by summarily dismissing his related claims that (1) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to make a motion for judgment of acquittal in regard to Count II under I.C.R. 29, and (2) counsel on direct appeal was ineffective for failing to raise a sufficiency of the evidence claim as to Count II. (Appellant's Brief, pp.7-11.) Crawford's claims fail.

During An.C.'s testimony, the prosecutor asked questions showing the progressive pattern of Crawford's touching of her body. An.C. initially said that Crawford "would touch [her] on [her] upper thigh and it started getting really uncomfortable." (R., p.161 (Tr., p.238, L.19 - p.239, L.7).) An.C. further explained that

While in the kitchen with An.C., Crawford asked her if she knew what a "clit" was and she told him she did not. (R., p.162 (Tr., p.242, Ls.16-18).) Crawford responded, "Well, let me show you," and as An.C. backed away, he "went to go show [her]," and he touched her "[o]utside of [her] vaginal area" by using his hands to go up her shorts. (R., p.162 (Tr., p. 243, Ls.10-19).)

Crawford touched "[c]lose to my private area[,]" which made her uncomfortable. (R., p.161 (Tr., p.239, Ls.17-23).) An.C. said that when she told her grandmother about the touching, her grandmother said "that it was how [Crawford] shows his affection and to not pay any attention to it." (R., p.161 (Tr., p.240, Ls.1-5).) An.C. finally told her mother that Crawford had been touching her because her mother "was having second thoughts about divorcing him and [An.C.] told her she needs to." (R., p.161 (Tr., p.241, Ls.17-19).) At that point in An.C.'s testimony, the prosecutor advanced beyond the subject of Crawford touching An.C.'s thighs to introduce a more serious level of contact — Crawford's touching of An.C.'s "privates:"

[Prosecutor]: Okay. And so let's go back to the touching. Besides the touching when he was rubbing on your leg, was he getting close to where your underwear was at?

- A. Yes.
- Q. In fact, was he up there to your privates?
- A. Yes.

(R., pp.161-162 (Tr., p.241, L.20 - p.242, L.2) (emphasis added).) Both the prosecutor's questions and An.C.'s answers about Crawford touching her "up there to [her] privates" were made without any specific reference to a particular incident. However, it is logical to conclude that such testimony referred to the kitchen incident discussed immediately thereafter.

Prior to testifying that Crawford was "up there to [her] privates[,]" An.C. testified that he made her uncomfortable by touching her upper thigh "[c]lose to [her] private area." (R., p.161 (Tr., p.239, Ls.3-20).) Immediately after An.C. testified that Crawford touched her "up there to [her] privates[,]" the prosecutor asked, "And so do you

remember a time when you were in the kitchen with your dad?" (R., p.162 (Tr., p.242, Ls.2-3).) An.C. then testified about the kitchen incident.³ While in the kitchen, Crawford offered An.C. an alcoholic drink, but she refused. (R., p.162 (Tr., p.242, Ls.14-15).) Crawford asked An.C. if she knew what a "clit" was and she told him she did not. (R., p.162 (Tr., p.242, Ls.16-18).) Crawford then said, "Well, let me show you," and as An.C. backed away, Crawford "went to go show [her]," and he touched her "[o]utside of [her] vaginal area" by using his hands to go up her shorts. (R., p.162 (Tr., p. 243, Ls.10-19).)

Apart from the TV incident, <u>see</u> n. 2, <u>supra</u>, An.C.'s testimony about the kitchen incident is the only other incident that matches An.C.'s initial testimony that Crawford touched her "up there to [her] privates[.]" (<u>See</u> R., pp.161-162 (Tr., p.241, L.25 - p.242, L.2).) Therefore, a rational juror could have easily concluded that An.C. testified, in effect, that the kitchen incident was one of the times Crawford touched her "up there to [her] privates." Upon hearing such testimony, a rational juror could also have reasonably concluded that Crawford had engaged in manual-to genital contact with An.C. during the kitchen incident.

With regard to Crawford's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal, he argues that the district court "misapplied the rule in *Mintun v. State*, that 'only

³ After testifying about the kitchen incident, An.C. testified only about one other incident that can reasonably be viewed as involving her "privates." She explained that when she was living at the Summer Field house and watching TV with Crawford, she had to "remove his hand from around [her] vaginal area or from near [her] vaginal area." (R., pp.162-163 (Tr., p.243, Ls.13-16; p.244, L.17 - p.246, L.14).) The remaining incidents that An.C. testified about do not involve contact near An.C.'s genitals -- Crawford's exposure of his penis to her at Christmas time in 2008 (R., pp.163-164 (Tr., p.248, L.24 - p.251, L.11)), and his grabbing her breast in front of a friend during a UFC party (R., p.164 (Tr., p.251, L.12 - p.253, L.11)).

when ignored issues are clearly stronger than those presented, will the presumption of effective assistance of counsel be overcome." (Appellant's Brief, p.15; Mintun v. State, 144 Idaho 656, 661, 168 P.3d 40, 45 (Ct. App. 2007) (quoting Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 288 (2000) (quoting Gray v. Greer, 800 F.2d 644, 646 (7th Cir., 1986))).) Crawford asserts that the district court "took this rule to mean that since '[a]ppellate counsel raised the strongest issue on appeal -- that the Court erred as a matter of law in instructing the jury,' counsel could not be ineffective for failing to raise other meritorious issues." (Appellant's Brief, p.15.) The court did no such thing.

In Robbins, the Supreme Court parenthetically quoted <u>Gray v, Greer</u>, 800 F.2d at 646, for the general proposition that "only when ignored issues are clearly stronger than those presented, will the presumption of effective assistance of counsel be overcome." <u>Robbins</u>, 528 U.S. at 288. However, <u>Gray explains that there is more to the analysis than simply gauging whether the "ignored issues are clearly stronger than those presented." <u>See id. Gray made clear that, to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on appeal, the ignored issue must be "a significant and obvious issue," not merely stronger than those presented, and the failure to raise it must be prejudicial:</u></u>

Had appellate counsel failed to raise a significant and obvious issue, the failure could be viewed as deficient performance. If an issue which was not raised may have resulted in a reversal of the conviction, or an order for a new trial, the failure was prejudicial. . . . When a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is based on failure to raise viable issues, the district court must examine the trial court record to determine whether appellate counsel failed to present significant and obvious issues on appeal. Significant issues which could have been raised should then be compared to those which were raised. Generally, only when ignored issues are clearly stronger than those presented, will the presumption of effective assistance of counsel be overcome.

Gray, 800 F.2d at 646 (emphasis added).

Here, although the district court stated that Crawford's counsel presented the strongest issue on direct appeal -- failure to instruct the jury that breasts are not genitals (R., pp.334-335) -- it did not rule that appellate counsel "could not be ineffective for failing to raise other meritorious issues[,]" thereby implying that Crawford's "sufficiency" issue was meritorious.⁴ (See Appellant's Brief, p.15.) Rather, the court ruled that Crawford's "sufficiency" based claim was not meritorious, stating, "the evidence gave rise to reasonable inferences of guilt on Count II. Thus, appellate counsel was not ineffective for failing to pursue this issue on appeal." (R., pp.334-335.)

Moreover, courts must also determine whether there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the petitioner would have prevailed on appeal. Robbins, 528 U.S. at 285. Even assuming Crawford's sufficiency claim was not frivolous, the evidence presented at trial was, as the district court concluded, sufficient to support his conviction for lewd conduct. Accordingly, Crawford has failed to show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the direct appeal would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-688, 694 (1984). Crawford has failed to demonstrate any error in the district court's summary dismissal of that claim.

Based on the district court's "Order Granting Summary Dismissal To The State" (Appendix A), and the above supplemental argument, Crawford has failed to show any error in the district court's summary dismissal of his post-conviction claims.

⁴ Crawford argues that the "strongest" issue presented on direct appeal -- the failure to inform the jury that breasts are not genitals -- had no relevance to Count II, lewd conduct against An.C. (Appellant's Brief, pp.15-16.) Regardless, inasmuch as Crawford's "sufficiency" issue has no merit, it does not meet either the deficient performance prong or prejudice prong of <u>Strickland</u>.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's summary dismissal of Crawford's petition for post-conviction relief.